IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

AUG 28 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By DC  
Chief Deputy Clerk

**JORGE E. GONZALEZ,**

*Petitioner,*

vs.

**CASE NO: 93,547**

**THIRD DCA NO: 98-444**

**L.T. CASE NO: 92-31611**

**HARRY K. SINGLETARY, Sec.,**

*Florida Department of*

*Corrections,*

*Respondent,*

---

**PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

**INVOKING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO RESOLVE  
CERTIFIED CONFLICT BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF  
APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, OF FLORIDA**

**JORGE GONZALEZ, *Petitioner, Pro se***  
**DC #451635 (A-2103-S)**  
**Hamilton Correctional Institution**  
**Rt. #1 P.O. Box 1360**  
**Jasper, Florida 32052-1360**

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In this brief, the petitioner, **JORGE E. GONZALEZ**, will be referred to by name or as the petitioner. The respondent will be referred to as the State. Citations to the original one and two volume record on review will be made by letter "R" and the appropriate page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner seeks discretionary review of the district court of appeals ruling denying, in part, his Petition for Habeas Corpus for Belated Appeal of his judgment of conviction, and Belated Appeal of the Denial of his Motion for Post-conviction Relief filed pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., Rule 3.850 in this cause wherein the Third District court certified direct conflict with the First and Fourth district courts of appeal of Florida.

1. The appellant was arrested on September 9, 1992 as a result of an alleged domestic violence dispute with his then, ex-wife. **(Appendix "A")**

2. On September 14, 1992, the state filed in the trial court, an information charging him with numerous violations of Florida laws.

3. On or about August 18, and 19, 1993, a jury trial was conducted before the Honorable Roberto M. Pineiro, Circuit Court Judge, for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in, and for Dade County Florida.

4. At the conclusion of the jury trial, appellant was found guilty of Kidnapping *Without* a Weapon, in violation of §787.01 Fla. Stat., and Battery, as lesser included in violation of §784.03. On October 20, 1993, appellant was sentenced by the Honorable Roberto M. Pineiro, Circuit Court Judge in this cause as follows:

Count #1 of the information: Kidnapping *Without* Weapon.

Sentence imposed: Thirty (30) years state prison to be followed by five (5) years probation.

Count #3 of the information: Battery (as lesser included)

Sentence imposed: Six month state prison.

6. On November 19, 1993 a timely notice of appeal was filed in the Third District Court of Appeals of Florida, appealing the order of the lower court rendered on October 20, 1993. (See Case No 93-2791 ( **Appendix "B"**))

7. The statement of judicial acts to be reviewed were as follows:

- (1) The denial by the trial court of the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the state's case.
- (2) The denial by the trial court of the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of all the evidence.
- (3) The denial by the trial court of the defendant's motion for new trial.
- (4) Failure of the trial court to declare a mistrial during the opening and closing arguments of the prosecutor.
- (5) The trial court's instructions to the jury.

8. Counsel for the defendant filed his initial brief of appellant on April 28, 1994 therein, counsel for the appellant presented the following claims for proper review. (**Appendix "C"**)

- (1) Did the trial court commit reversible error in making contact with the jury during deliberation without the defendant and his counsel being present.
- (2) In a supplemental brie filed on June 7, 1994, the following claim for review was presented. The trial court committed reversible error by sentencing the defendant outside the Florida Sentencing Guidelines *without* reasons for departure.

The state filed its response. (**Appendix "D"**)

On June 21, 1994, the Third District Court of Appeals reversed and remanded defendant's case for a new trial. See Gonzalez v. State, 638 So.2d 199 (Fla 3d DCA 1993)

9. On November 2, 1994 appellant, being represented by his court appointed counsel Public Defender Rashad El-Amin, and on the advice of his counsel, negotiated a plea and entered his plea of guilty to the charge of Kidnapping *Without* a Weapon, and Battery. Thereupon was subsequently sentenced as follows: **(Appendix "F")**

Count #1: Kidnapping *Without* a Weapon

Sentence imposed: Fifteen (15) years state prison, to be followed by Five (5) years probation.

Count #3: Battery

Sentence imposed: Time Served. **(Appendix "G")**

10. On January, 1995, the appellant filed in the trial court, from South Florida Reception Center an unartfully drafted motion *titled* "Defendant's Motion For Post-Conviction Relief, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., Rule 3.800(a). **(Appendix "H")**

11. On February 3, 1995, the appellant filed by mail, from Hamilton Correctional Institution where he had been transferred to from South Florida Reception Center, a motion *titled* "Motion For Voluntary Dismissal of Action without Prejudice". **(Appendix "I")**

12. In the above motion the appellant set forth the reasoning as to why he moved the court to dismiss the action without prejudice. In page #6 of the motion he clearly stated that the motion was NOT to be interpreted as a Rule 3.850 motion for post-conviction relief, but a Rule 3.800(a) "Motion For Correction Of Sentence".

13. On March, 1995, the appellant, after receiving no response from the court regarding his "Motion For Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice", filed by mail from Hamilton Correctional Institution a "Notice Of Inquiry".

14. On March 15, 1995, the appellant, through the institution's mail-room, received two (2) pieces of "Legal Mail". Both items were from Harvey Ruvin, Clerk of court in Miami, Florida.

15. In one envelope, the appellant received what is *titled* "Order Denying Motion For Post-Conviction Relief" pursuant to Rule 3.850. Signed by the Honorable Ellen L. Leesfield and dated February 21, 1995, with a certificate of service by Frankie Hamilton, Deputy Clerk, and dated March 2, 1995. This article of mail was originally mailed by the Clerk of the court to appellant's at South Florida Reception Center and had to be forwarded to Hamilton Correctional Institution wherein appellant is incarcerated. **(Appendix "J")**

16. In the other envelope, the appellant received what is *titled* "Criminal Division Certified Records Search", and informs the appellant:

Our records indicate that a motion for Voluntary Dismissal of Action Without Prejudice has not been filed with our office in case No: 92-31611.

This was in response to the appellant's "Notice of Inquiry" above.

17. On the 17th of March, 1995 appellant filed from Hamilton Correctional Institution a "Motion For Rehearing" moving the circuit court by way of rehearing to vacate its order dated February 21, 1995 with certificate of service dated March 22, 1995 setting forth the reasons for his motion. **(Appendix "K")**

18. On September 22, 1995, after various "Notices of Inquiry" were filed in the trial court by appellant without a response. He filed a motion pursuant to Fla. Judicial Admin. Rule 2.050(f) compelling a response from the court regarding his "Motion For Rehearing".

19. On October 24, 1995, the trial court denied appellant's "Motion for rehearing" pursuant to Rule 3.850(g). **(Appendix "L")**

20. On the 4th day of November, 1995 appellant filed a timely "Notice of appeal" to the Third District Court of Appeals of Florida appealing the final Order denying appellant's misconstrued motion for post-conviction relief, and rehearing pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule(s)

3.850 and 3.850(g) respectively. (**Appendix "M"**)

21. The nature of the order appealed is the denial of:

(1) The refusal to acknowledge defendant's "Motion For Voluntary Dismissal Of Action Without Prejudice" filed February 3, 1995, and, again supplied as an exhibit with the "Motion For Rehearing" filed March 17, 1995, and allow the action to be dismissed without prejudice for proper refiling

(2) The court's construing the motion filed pursuant to Rule 3.850 Fla.R.Crim.P. when, in fact, such was filed pursuant to Rule 3.800(a) Fla.R.Crim.P.

(3) The court denying the motion pursuant to Rule 3.850 Fla.R.Crim.P. and not attaching portions of the record to refute defendant's claims.

22. On November 28, 1995, the Third District Court of Appeals of Florida acknowledged receipt of the "Notice of appeal" and assigned it a case number (95-03347).

23. On December 13, 1995, the Third district Court of Appeals of Florida issued a Per Curiam with opinion, vacating the denial of appellant's "Motion For Post-Conviction Relief without prejudice through the jail house "Mailbox" pursuant to Hagg v. State, 591 So.2d 614 (Fla. 1992) *See also* Gonzalez v. State, 664 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995). (**Appendix "N"**)

24. On October 22, 1997, appellant filed in the trial court from Hamilton Correctional Institution his "Motion For Post-Conviction Relief" pursuant to Fla. R.Crim.P. Rule 3.850. alleging the following four grounds: (**Appendix "O"**)

**1. THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT MOTION OF ACQUITTAL ON INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE AS TO THE CHARGE OF KIDNAPPING.**

**2. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY IMPOSING DEPARTURE SENTENCE WITHOUT A WRITTEN STATEMENT. SENTENCED THE DEFENDANT WITH AN INCORRECTLY CALCULATED SCORESHEET, AND ERRONEOUSLY CLASSIFIED THE SEVERITY OF THE OFFENSE.**

**3. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL BY FAILING TO PURSUE A VIABLE DEFENSE THEORY OF VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION. BUT FOR COUNSEL'S ADVICE DEFENDANT WOULD NOT HAVE ENTERED HIS GUILTY PLEA.**

**4. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN HIS TRIAL REPRESENTATION OF THE DEFENDANT.**

Each ground set forth facts on which appellant based his claims in the accompanying "Memorandum Of Law" in support of his motion for post-conviction relief. Eight (8) exhibits were attached to support appellant's arguments.

25. On February 2, 1998, appellant received through the mail room at Hamilton Correctional Institution a court Order *titled* "Order Denying Defendant's Motion For Post-Conviction Relief" pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., Rule 3.850. Appellant's motion was denied as untimely and successive. Yet the trial court ruled on each and every viable claim presented by the appellant in his motion for post-conviction relief. **(Appendix "P")**

26. On February 17, 1998 petitioner filed his petition for writ of Habeas Corpus in the Third district court.

27. On April 17, 1998 the Third district court of appeals denied in part petitioner's motion for belated appeal. Gonzalez v. State, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D1578 (Fla. 3d DCA *Opinion filed April 17, 1998*).

28. On July 23, 1998 petitioner filed his notice to Invoke discretionary Jurisdiction.

29. On August 5, 1998 this Honorable Court issued its Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule ordering petitioner to submit his Initial Brief on the Merits by August 31, 1998.

There are no other pending motions either in State or Federal Courts with regards to this case. This petition for belated appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Hialeah police officer Ricardo Garcia answered a domestic violence call . At the scene, the officer found the defendant's ex-wife Virginia Gonzalez and their son. Ms. Gonzalez's face was bruised and swollen, and showed difficulty in breathing.

Ms. Gonzalez testified at trial that she, and the defendant had been divorced since 1990. On the day prior to the incident, the defendant Jorge E. Gonzalez came to her house in order to visit with their son. The following day the defendant called her because he wanted to take their son fishing on board a charter vessel. Ms. Gonzalez suggested he not take their son out on the boat and agreed to the defendant's visit with the child. The defendant accepted the suggestion. Ms. Gonzalez took the child to the defendant's home. She was waiting in her car when the child told her that the defendant wanted to talk to her. When she arrived at the front door to the home, the defendant pulled her inside and locked the front door. Ms Gonzalez noticed an object near the front door covered with a blanket and saw that it was a rifle. The defendant pushed her into the living room while telling her that she was going to die. The defendant asked Ms. Gonzalez to write a suicide note.

Ms. Gonzalez had a pocket knife in her possession which she opened, she lunged at the defendant and stabbed him, grabbing hold of the rifle. After a brief struggle, the defendant recovered control of the rifle and ordered Ms. Gonzalez to sit down. Eventually, the defendant began to weaken and was having difficulty breathing. The stab wound had punctured a lung on the defendant. The defendant asked Ms. Gonzalez to help him to the bathroom. She then took the rifle, placed it in a closet and left the house.



## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the Third District court of appeal held that a defendant who pleads guilty, that at the plea colloquy, he expressly waived his right to direct appeal, and that the defendant's motion failed to alleged with specificity any of the limited exceptions dictated by Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979) necessary for an appeal from a guilty plea" should preclude him from obtaining belated appeal of his judgment of conviction.

The decision of the District court is cannot be reconciled with the previous decisions of this Court in Baggett v. Wainwright, 229 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1969); Robinson v. State; *supra*; Amendment to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996)(*On reh'g*)(Committee note indicating that the revision was intended to reinstate the procedure set forth in Baggett. *Id at* 807 wherein practical difficulties have arisen confronting any **pro se** litigants attempting to marshal legal issues necessary to entitle him or her to the one and only appeal an indigent has as of right" from a conviction, and is in direct conflict with the decision of the First district court of appeals of Florida in Trowell v. State, 706 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1998)(*en banc*) *review granted* (Fla. No: 92- 393 March 5, 1998); Owens v. State, 643 So.2d 643 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1994); and with the Fourth distinct court decisions in Fairecloth v. State, 661 So.2d 1292 Fla. 4th DCA 1995); and Gunn v. State, 612 So.2d 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) specifically rejecting the Third district court's contention that the defendant must make a preliminary showing of arguable points on the merits in order to be entitled to appeal.

Thus, the petitioner contends that the decision of the District court expressly and directly conflicts, and cannot be reconciled with, the previous decisions of this Court, and with the First and

Fourth District Courts of appeal of Florida as a matter of law.

By contrast, the material facts in this case substantially differ from the authorities cited by the district court because petitioner's plea of guilty is *fundamentally* erroneous and *constitutionally* invalid which implications are established in the plea colloquy, and are precisely the claims the decisions in Trowell; Owens; Faircloth; and Gunn; seek to safeguard.

This Honorable Court should correctly interpret the decisions of the First and Fourth district courts to apply to instances (*as here*) where counsel's erroneous legal advice, coupled by his failure to timely file a notice of appeal, have resulted in an involuntary plea of guilty with fundamental and constitutional implications.

This Honorable Court has Jurisdiction to resolve the conflict that currently exists between the district courts by quashing the decision of the Third district court in this case, and in the interest of justice, petitioner's plea should be treated as a nullity. The conviction based on such a plea should be vacated with instructions to allow the petitioner plead to the lesser included offense of false imprisonment.

Finally, this Honorable Court should recognize the prejudice and manifest injustice suffered by the petitioner based upon the material facts found on the face of the record in this case, and it has the moral and legal obligation to correct the injustice.

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Florida Supreme Court has Discretionary Jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V § 3(b)(3) Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R.App.P., Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

## ARGUMENT

**THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIRST AND FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS IN TROWELL v. STATE, 706 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1998)(*en banc*), review granted (Fla. No: 92-393 March 5, 1998); OWENS v. STATE, 643 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1st. DCA 1994); FAIRCLOTH v. STATE, 661 So. 2d 1292 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); AND GUNN v. STATE, 612 So.2d 643 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) RESPECTIVELY AS A MATTER OF LAW.**

### **MAY IT PLEASE THE COURT**

The Third district court denied, in part, petitioner's motion for belated appeal of his judgment of conviction, and belated appeal of the denial of his motion for post conviction relief pursuant to Fla.R.CrimP., rule 3.850 finding that the *substance* of his motion failed to allege with specificity any of the limited exceptions dictated by Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979), *citing* Gonzalez; Loadholt v. State, 683 So.2d 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1996) Rule 9.140(b)(2)(A)-(B); *Cf.* Harriel v. State, 23 Fla.LWeekly D967 (Fla. 4th DCA *Opinion filed April 15, 1995*)(Evaluating the limited right to appeal from a plea of guilty or nolo contendere).

The district court's decision in this case is inconsistent with previous decisions of this Honorable Court and other district courts of appeal as a matter of law: *See e.,g.*, Baggett; Robinson; Fla.R.App.P., 9.140(j)(5)(dealing with petitions for belated appeal which included Committee Note indicating that the revision was intended to reinstate the procedure set forth in Baggett: *id at 807*;

and is in direct conflict with Trowell; Owens; Faircloth; and Gunn; *supra*.

The decision of the district court in this case cannot be reconciled with previous decisions of this Honorable Court and with the First and Fourth district courts of appeal as a matter of law which are of the firm belief that the only relevant inquiry, once a request for belated appeal is made, is whether the defendant was informed of his or her right to an appeal and thereafter timely made a request for an appeal to his or her attorney or other appropriate person. *See e.,g., Baggett*; Rule 9.140(j)(5); and Trowell; *id at* 337. Specifically rejecting the district court's contention that the defendant must make a preliminary showing of arguable points on the merits in order to be entitled to an appeal.

It is uncertain in this case whether petitioner's court appointed attorney filed an Anders<sup>1</sup> brief. In its response, the state argued that 1) petitioner had pled guilty and thus had waived all defects in the proceeding; 2) that he was presenting a new issue without a prior ruling of the circuit court; and 3) that his rule 3.850 motion for post conviction relief was untimely because petitioner had over eleven months from the date of the district court's Mandate on December 13, 1995 to resubmit his rule 3.850 motion.

The district court concluded that under Robinson; foreclosed appeals from matters which transpired prior to the plea but did not prevent a defendant from raising four distinct matters; (1) subject matter jurisdiction; (2) illegality of the sentence; (3) failure of the government to abide by the plea agreement; and (4) the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea. *See* Amendments to

---

<sup>1</sup> Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967) which establishes a procedure under which counsel appointed to represent an indigent defendant on appeal from a conviction and sentence can satisfy the Attorney's ethical obligation of adequate representation where the Attorney can identify no meritorious issues on appeal.

the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 775 (*Citing Robinson*, 373 So.2d at 902); Rule 9.140(b)(2)(B). Because petitioner failed to allege with specificity any of the *Robinson* matters his belated appeal was denied. *See Gonzalez; Loadholt; Cf. Harriel.*

In *Gonzalez*, the district court held that "Where a defendant has pled guilty or no contest, he cannot undo the waiver of the right to appeal by simply asserting that he asked defense counsel to appeal. He must show that his appellate issue falls with-in one of the *Robinson* exceptions, and that there is record support for it. If the defendant cannot meet these threshold requirements, then the remedy is an ordinary motion for post conviction relief under rule 3.850. *Gonzalez Id at 976.*

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