047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 28 19981

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JORGE E. GONZALEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO: 93-547

DCA CASE NO: 98-444 L.T. CASE NO: 92-31611

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, Sec., Florida Department of Corrections,

rıaa Deparimeni oj Correcii Respondeni.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jorge E. Gonzalez, *Petitioner*, Pro se Hamilton Correctional Institution 10650 S. W. 46th Street Jasper, Florida 32052-1360

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR BELATED APPEAL FROM HIS PLEA OF GUILTY.

MAY IT PLEASE THE COURT

To preclude a defendant from obtaining a belated appeal from his judgment of conviction, who is indigent and inexperienced and unskillful in the complexities of the legal issues involved in his cause to establish his guilt or innocence, and who stands before a trial judge charged with a serious crime for the first time in his life. When such a defendant has affirmatively relied on the erroneous legal advice of his court appointed advocate in entering his plea of guilty to a crime, the facts of which, are implicitly established at a previous trial to be a clear indication contrary to the legislature's intent of the statute under which the defendant is formally charged. Furthermore, that court appointed advocate fails to file a notice of appeal, or a motion to withdraw his plea within the time limitations, after specifically being instructed to do so by the defendant. These actions strike a devastating blow to the foundation of American Jurisprudence, and unveils constitutional due process implications which should not be deemed waived by the passage of time. And, which this Honorable Court should *sua sponte* amend in exercising its responsibility to apply the law, and to see that justice is served.

At bar petitioner specifically contends that based on this Honorable Court's recent decision in <u>Trowell v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (<u>State v. Trowell</u>) Supreme Court Case NO: 93, 393 Order dated July 22, 1998 he is entitled to belated appeal from his plea of guilty. In <u>Trowell</u>; this Court certified conflict that defendant need not state meritorious issues as a

precondition to right to belated appeal from a criminal conviction. Receding from prior decision in Thomas v. State, to the extent that decision required defendant to state what issues he or she would have raised on appeal, whether or how those issues would have been dispositive, or how defendant was otherwise prejudiced by counsel's failure to file notice of appeal-The only relevant inquiry once request for belated appeal is made is whether defendant was informed of right to appeal and thereafter timely made a request for an appeal to his or her attorney or other appropriate person-If appeal proceeds from entry of unconditional guilty or nolo contendere plea, that may ultimately be basis for dismissal by an appellate court, but issues of merit are not required as precondition to appeal. Moreover, petitioner further contends that he is entitled to belated appeal from his plea of guilty because it is constitutionally invalid by misrepresentation, and his conviction under the kidnapping statute as a result thereof constitutes fundamental error. See Otero v. State, 696 So.2d 442 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); Nelson v. State, 543 So.2d 1308 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) which stand for the proposition that error in admitting the defendant's confession without independent proof of the corpus delecti was fundamental. In each case, fundamental error occurred because prima facie evidence of the crime charged was not presented. See J.B. v. State, 705 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1998) id. at 1378-79, which can be considered on appeal without objection in lower court. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction to allow petitioner to plead to the lesser included offense of false imprisonment and his claim is affirmatively fortified by the record.² Cf. Akins v. State, 462 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 5 DCA 1984); Mizell v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1978 (Fla. 3rd DCA Case No; 97-3638 Opinion filed August 26, 1998).

¹ See Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

² See (Appendix "A"; "F"; and "O"); Art. V Section 3(b)3 Fla. Const.; State v Pitts, 520 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1988)(Quoting Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983); See also (Appendix to Respondent's Brief on the Merits Exhibit "A")

It is necessary to consider here the question of whether the battery, a misdemeanor, can act as predicate crime to support the primary charge of kidnapping. See Smith v. State, 687 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) which right for appellate review was formally presented to the district court via petitioner's 3.850 motion for post conviction relief.³ Although untimely as the district court opined, it falls within the fundamental error exception whether or not the claimed inadequacy of the district court, the state, and defense counsel "appear[s] in the record" for it is clear, in any event, that the interest of justice requires it because the trial court was without jurisdiction to tinker with the elements of the kidnapping statute that are implicitly delineated by the legislature. Thereby, constituting prejudice in this case. The prejudice is also a consequence of petitioner's counsel critically erroneous legal advice, coupled by his subsequent abandonment of the petitioner by not filing a motion to withdraw the plea or, to file a notice of appeal during the time limitations after specifically being instructed to do so, constituting ineffective assistance of counsel. See <u>Valle. v.</u> State, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 2nd DCA (Fla. 1997); Akins; Mizell; supra. Therefore, the real issue before us is what due process rights a convicted defendant has in post conviction matters when petitioner relies on his attorney's advice to pursue remedies designed to prove his innocence and to obtain his freedom. And the attorney fails to file with in the limitations period. If petitioner can prove that he was improperly convicted, he should be set free, if he is denied the opportunity to offer such proof because of the malpractice of his lawyer, fundamental due process requires that he have a remedy that will address his future incarceration and not merely compensate him for staying in prison. If petitioner is denied the opportunity to challenge his conviction under an appropriate rule because of the negligence of his attorney, then due process requires a belated filing procedure similar to that allowed in belated appeals. See Steele v. Kehoe, 23 Fla. L Weekly D771 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) Id at 772; Trowell; supra;

It is a well established rule in Florida that the law presumes that a person charged with a

³ See (Appendix "O").

crime is innocent and the presumption of innocence follows such a defendant charged with crime through every step in the trial until the presumption is overcome by establishing the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. Likewise, it is a fundamental and widely recognized principle of criminal law that the burden of proof is on the state to establish every essential element or material allegation in the information beyond a reasonable doubt before a verdict of guilt may be allowed. See Pinder v. State, 53 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1951); Broadnax v. State, 57 So.2d 651 (Fla. 1952); Griffin v. State, 705 So.2d 572 574-75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)(Conviction is fundamentally erroneous when the facts affirmatively proven by the state do not constitute charged offense as a matter of law); Waites v. State, 702 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)(Statute making it an offense to operate motor vehicle, without having driver's license, in careless and negligent manner resulting in death of another human being, prohibits only knowingly driving with invalid license); <u>Dubose v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997)(Conviction for burglary of a dwelling reversed because a necessary element of that offense as charged in this case was the intent to resist the officer without violence); Donaldson v. State, 682 So.2d 197 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(Defendant did not "kidnap" automobile driver, although he threatened driver with weapon, where driver never obeyed defendant's commands to proceed in certain directions or to stop car); Blanchard v. State, 634 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994).

The statute⁴ which makes kidnapping with intent to commit *any felony* a crime, the intent with which the felony was made is the gravamen of the offense. Although questions may arise as to whether it was distinctly alleged in the original charging document⁵. On remand, it is uncertain

⁴ See §787.01.

⁵ See (Appendix "A").

what the charging document reflects because petitioner was never provided with one. A charge of kidnapping with intent to commit any felony e.,g., aggravated hattery, and/or aggravated assault, and/or to inflict bodily harm upon or to terrorize the victim, and/or retaliating against a witness must alleged with certainty the intent with which those felonies were made. Compare Black v. State, 173 So.2d 166 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1965) (Under statute which makes assault with intent to commit a felony a crime, the intent with which the assault was made is the gravamen of the offense). Construing it citing Williams v. State, 41 Fla. 295, 26 So. 184, the court stated that "this section designs to punish assaults with intent to commit any felony. The intent is the gist of the offense, and no one can be punished under the statute for assault unless it be accompanied with the requisite intent". The intent being the gist of the offense must be distinctly alleged with that certainty which is required as to other material allegations. It must not be left to uncertain inference, nor is a mere statement of such intent, in the conclusion of the information, by way of legal deduction or inference from the facts previously alleged, a sufficient allegation as to the intent. Black v. State, 173 So.2d at 168; Akins; supra.

As argued previously in this case⁶, it is axiomatic the state failed to meet its burden since it cannot use the original information to formally charge petitioner on remand, because the aggravator in the kidnapping charge is dependent in the battery to support a conviction under §787.01, and is contrary to the legislature's intent of the kidnapping statute. Thus, here the facts are contrary to the plain meaning of the statute and fail to meet the legislature's intent.

After striking the *any felony* aggravator in this kidnapping case petitioner is left with only one statutory aggravator, battery. This sole aggravator when pitted against significant mitigation,

⁶ See Initial Brief on the Merits.

rendered the conviction under the kidnapping statute disproportionate. Illustrating the distinction the legislature has drawn between a felony and a misdemeanor this Honorable Court should agree that the legislature's use of the term *any felony* in the kidnapping statute to be a clear indication of legislative intent that misdemeanants are not to be imprisoned under the auspices of *any felony*. Based on the legislature's intent and upon review of the record and a comparison of the relevant case law, this Honorable Court must also conclude that because the *gist* of the alleged crime is missing, and because petitioner entered his guilty plea based upon critically incorrect legal advice from his court appointed lawyer, his plea of guilty is involuntary by representation⁷ and falls under the Robinson exceptions, because had petitioner been correctly advised, he would not have entered his plea of guilty and instead would have proceeded to trial.

In Fayson v. State, 694 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), Approved 698 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1997), disapproving Sgroi v. State, 634 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the district court further explained that the "aggravated battery conviction is not dependent on a finding of battery as an aggravator in a burglary with a battery charge, i.,e., the conviction on the lesser included offense did not negate a necessary element of the aggravated battery conviction." Fayson; 698 So.2d at 826. This Court further explained. There is a reasonable explanation for the verdicts in that the jury could have factually distinguished the charges in this case by concluding that when Fayson first entered the premises he had only committed a burglary and at that time he had no intent to commit a battery. As the facts of this case unfolded, the jury could have logically concluded that the aggravated battery came after and separate from the burglary. Fayson So.2d *Id. at* 827. By contrast, the conviction and sentence imposed in this case is disproportionate because the kidnapping

⁷ Explained in Initial Brief on the Merits.

conviction is dependent on a finding of battery as an aggravator in the kidnapping charge i.,e., the conviction on the lesser included offense of *any felony* negates a necessary element of the kidnapping conviction. Fayson; *Id. at* 826. The fact that petitioner did not raise this issue on his motion for belated appeal does not waive this claim. Since the issue was already before the district court by way of petitioner's rule 3.850 motion for post conviction relief it was unnecessary to reargue it on petitioner's motion for belated appeal. Moreover, the issue in this appeal is very straight forward and not novel because the district court was familiar with petitioner's case due to petitioner's four visits to the court contesting different matters in a dramitic attempt to give birth to his meritorious legal claim.

In making the determination of proportionality, this Court should be guided by the decision reported as <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D 1994, D1995 (Fla. 4th DCA Opinion filed August 26, 1998) ("The distinction between 'direct' and 'collateral' consequences of a plea, while sometimes shaded in the relevant decisions, turns on whether the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment.") *Id. at* D1995 (citation omitted (emphasis added); See also State, v. Leroux, 689 So.2d 235 (Fla. 1996) (This Court and all the district courts have long recognized that a defendant may be entitled to withdraw a plea entered in reliance upon his attorney's mistaken advice about sentencing), *Id. at* 237. Here, the state was afforded (two bites at the same apple) the opportunity to twice depart from the Florida Sentencing Guidelines under the misrepresentation of defense counsel and without the acquiescence of petitioner after the state conceded error on appeal, and before the defendant could have his first. See also e.,g., Sosa v. State, 641 So.2d 935 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994). In Sosa all statutory elements of kidnapping with the exception of the use of the weapon were inherent in the facts. The crime of kidnapping should be reserved for only instances where the amy felony intent of § 787.01 is found

to have been committed beyond a reasonable doubt. *See e.,g.*, <u>Puentes v. State</u>, 658 So.2d 171 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995). Had the district court properly reviewed the record in this case as enumerated in the cited cases in its order denying petitioner's motion for belated appeal, <u>Harriel</u>; *at* 106. It would have recognized the injustice, and would have granted petitioner's motion without further delay. The record in the instant case is clear that petitioner's defense was that although he and the alleged victim argued, he lacked the intent to commit bodily harm on Ms. Gonzalez. <u>Smith</u>; 687 So.2d at 309; *See also* <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991); <u>Platt v State</u>, 697 So.2d 989 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997);

In <u>Delva</u>, this Court answered the certified question in the affirmative with the qualification that fundamental error does not occur when the defendant's knowledge of the nature of the substance was not at issue in the case. *Id.* at 645. By contrast, in this case the issue of intent has been a feature from the start and has remained such throughout these proceedings. Defense counsel argued to the jury that petitioner's defensive move when attacked by Ms. Gonzalez was the end product of fear and was grounded on a claim of self-defense. As in <u>Smith</u>; and <u>Platt</u>; <u>supra</u>, defense counsel's stipulation at the plea colloquy as to the facts herein constituting the crime charged, and waiver of P.S.I. report without petitioner's acquiescence after being completely familiarized with this case, clearly constitutes conduct which fell measurably below the standard of competent counsel. <u>Platt</u>; *id.* at 990-991, and the conviction for the charged crime constitutes fundamental error. <u>Otero</u>; <u>Nelson: Akins; J.B.: supra</u>.

Generally, reviewing court will not consider question not presented in lower court. *See* State, Shea, 167 So.2d 767 (Fla. App. 1964) Where fundamental error appears on the record, it is reviewable despite failure of appellant to raise the issue below. *See* Robbins v. State, 413 So.2d 840 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); U.S. Const. Amend. 14. The erroneous legal advice received by petitioner

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